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Forward

Ideas come from the strangest places and when I
set out to write a Call of Cthulhu scenario in the
hopes of getting it published, I had little more than
an idea of what I wanted to do: create a scenario
that could take place in a house over the course of
several years, involving either the same or different
investigators, and all connected by a single location.

This, then, is the result.

The obvious inspiration for the initial sce-
nario is The Phantom of Croglin Grange, a British
ghost/vampire story with little or no basis in truth
(aside from the fact that there is a place named Cro-
glin Grange). I was living in North Carolina when I
started work on this and the logical location was a
backwater in that state — preferably one that no lon-
ger existed. Mortimer was the perfect spot. Once a
growing community, by the mid 1920s, it was a dy-
ing town, fated to someday cease to exist altogether.

The first three scenarios, all involving the
Campbell House, came together fairly quickly and
easily, even though the last has but a tenuous con-
nection to that place. The whole monograph didn’t
feel finished, however. With Brown Mountain and
the strange Brown Mountain lights looming only a
few miles away, a scenario set there seemed the ob-
vious answer. That adventure alone would eat up a
year of my time with tinkering and fiddling. It grew
out of control and spanned not only the Appala-
chian Mountains, but the entire solar system by the
time it was finished.

The first three scenarios can each be played in
a single game session (or four-hour slot at a conven-
tion). The Strange Case of the Brown Mountain will
probably cover at least two game sessions.

Over a score of pre-generated characters are
included in the back of this book. All of them are
from the more familiar (at least in Call of Cthulhu
circles) Boston area of New England. This was in-
tentional. These investigators are “not from around

here” and even the backwoods of North Carolina
should seem strange and somehow foreign to them,
much like the Innsmouth or Dunwich of Arkham
Country. These pre-gens serve a dual purpose, and
if the Keeper is using these scenarios as part of a
regular campaign, instead of at conventions as they
were originally intended (save for the last), they can
serve as NPCs who still have that New England feel
to them.

I hope everyone enjoys this book and its con-
tents. I enjoyed terrorizing my own players with it. I
hope you will too.

Each of the scenarios in this book can be run
independently, if the Keeper so desires, and each
is written to facilitate such use. Some are slight-
ly harder to adapt than others but notes at the end
of the scenarios should aid Keepers running them
alone.

Andy Miller
September 2009 to June 2011




The Phantom of
Wilson Creek

These scenarios takes places in the mountains of
North Carolina, an area rich in culture and history,
though short on paved roads, telephones, and in-
door plumbing — especially in the 1920s.

The main book is broken into three parts for
each of the three sessions run at the Mid-Atlantic
Convention Expo in High Point, N.C., Nov. 6-8,
2009. Each session was run for different players with
different investigators on consecutive years in-game.
Thus this is actually three scenarios in one that take
place in the same location on Wilson Creek.

The first scenario, The House on Yellow Buck
Mountain, takes place in 1925. One of the investi-
gators has inherited an old but still intact house on
the side of Yellow Buck Mountain in North Caro-
lina. He must investigate the home, put to rest the
local rumors about it, and try to figure out what is
haunting it. If the first group flees from the area or
does not otherwise deal with what is haunting Yel-
low Buck Mountain, they (or other characters) may
return in subsequent months or years to try to end
the horror.

The second scenario, Return to Yellow Buck
Mountain, takes place in 1926, a year after the first.
This time, the investigators might be facing more
than one horror, depending how the first scenario
played out. If the phantom was defeated and de-
stroyed in the first scenario, they must now deal
with local boogey men who have been seen on the
mountainside near the town of Mortimer. If the
first group did NOT defeat the Phantom of Wilson
Creek, the second group may try to put down the
phantom once again.

The third scenario, The Wizard of Wilson
Creek, takes place in 1927 and builds on those be-
fore it. Unlike the others, this one deals with a mad-
man in Mortimer who has learned of the exploits of
the earlier groups and seeks power from the house
itself and its former denizens. The ghouls have gone

back to their underground haunts. The phantom is
destroyed or merely sleeping. In any case, Wilson
Hardy, a local farmer who works in the local fab-
ric mill, is convinced that if he can somehow revive
Martin Smith, he will be privy to his secrets.

Additionally, an interim scenario, The Strange
Case of the Brown Mountain Lights, can be played
at any time either between the scenarios or even as
a red herring (though a deadly one) for use during
any of the scenarios. The information on the Brown
Mountain Lights should be available to investiga-
tors at any time and it should be left to them wheth-
er or not to investigate it. If they seem interested,
the child should get lost and give them a reason to
intervene. It is best set in 1927, during the largest
manhunt in western North Carolina history during
the hunt for Broadus Miller.

In each case, failure by investigators previ-
ous to those who are presently investigating means
more trouble for those later investigations.

Introduction

Something has haunted the area of Wilson Creek
North Carolina for some time now. This evil seems
to inhabit the old Campbell House that lies south of
the tiny, struggling village of Mortimer, N.C. in the
foothills of the Appalachian Mountains.

Though the locals in Mortimer know little of
it, they have heard rumors and the local newspaper
(23 miles away as the crow flies or by train) has run
stories on some strange occurrences.

In 1925, solicitors of the owner of the old
Campbell House find an heir and he is given the
property to do with as he pleases. However, some-
thing is amiss in the old house.
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North Carolina, Looking From the East

Caldwell County and Locale

In 1926, ghouls return to Wilson Creek in large
numbers, looking for the thing that once haunted
the house.

In 1927, a local man who has learned more
than he should decides that if the secret of immor-
tality is in the Campbell House, he should have it.
He sets out to find that secret and stop anyone op-
posing him.

Wilson Creek Area

Wilson Creek lies between Morganton to the south
and the Linville Gap to the north in Caldwell Coun-
ty, North Carolina. It is an area that has been logged
and worked almost until it is no longer useful. No
paved roads go into the valley, though there are nar-
row dirt roads that run along the bottom gorge in
places and higher up along the mountainside north
of Edgemont. The train is the best way to get to
Mortimer and Edgemont.

Caldwell County was originally settled in 1750 by
European Pioneers. The county itself is relatively
young, having only been formed in 1841 from
nearby Burke and Wilkes Counties. It lost some
of its territory to Avery County to the northwest,
which was formed in 1911 (and was the last county
formed in the state). The County Seat is in Lenoir
(see below). The county produces tobacco, poultry,
livestock and dairy products primarily, while com-
mercial apple orchards also produce large returns.

The county seat in nearby Avery County is
Newland, incorporated in 1913. Linville, only 13
miles from Mortimer, was established in 1885 at
the base of Grandfather Mountain as a resort town.
North Carolina’s first mountain golf resort was es-
tablished there.

Though there are no doctors in either Mor-
timer or Edgemont, a few are still available in times
of emergency. Dr. Claude Moore lives in nearby
Globe and, during the time of the Ritter Logging
Company, rode the company motor car on the nar-
row gauge tracks to minister to those in the Wil-
son Creek area, coming over Staircase Mountain
from his own town. Dental services were provided




by traveling dentists such as Dr. R.D. Jennings from
Banner Elk, who serviced both Mortimer and Edge-
mont.

Though there are no doctors in either Mor-
timer or Edgemont, a few are still available in times
of emergency. Dr. Claude Moore lives in nearby
Globe and, during the time of the Ritter Logging
Company, rode the company motor car on the nar-
row gauge tracks to minister to those in the Wil-
son Creek area, coming over Staircase Mountain
from his own town. Dental services were provided
by traveling dentists such as Dr. R.D. Jennings from
Banner Elk, who serviced both Mortimer and Edge-
mont.

The only road into the area is from Globe, to
the northeast. Wilson Creek Road, south of Mor-
timer, only goes as far south as Craig Creek. An old
logging road travels over Joe White Mountain, con-
necting the town to Collettsville. The railroad is still
the best way to get into the area.

Mortimer, N.C.

“Mortimer sprung up almost in a night and has
flourished like a green bay tree. There are more
than 100 houses in the place and some of them are
as pretty as a fellow would find in a day’s journey.
I cannot imagine a better location for a little town
than the one on which Mortimer is built.”

-- Mr. E.F. Reid of the Carolina and
Northwestern Railroad to the Lenoir News,
July 1905

Mortimer is a tiny town founded in 1904 by the Rit-
ter Lumber Company, which purchased the land for
timber. The saw mill and small textile mill provided
work for some 800 residents of the community.
Logging mostly took place between Wilson Creek
and Steele Creek: Trees were hauled to the mill on
Ritter’s narrow gauge railroad which followed Wil-
son Creek most of the way before it ended in Edge-
mont, two and a half miles to the north. The Hut-
ton-Bourbannis Company operated other narrow
gauge logging railroad lines which fanned out from
Mortimer. By 1903, the narrow gauge Chester and
Lenoir Railroad was upgraded to standard gauge
and reorganized as the Carolina and Northwestern
Railroad.

By 1905, the town had the W.M. Ritter Lum-
ber Company Store, a school, a blacksmith shop,
church, the Mortimer Hotel, and numerous hous-
es for the residents. The town was incorporated in
1907 and by then had a motion picture facility near

the school and church, and the Laurel Inn (report-
edly visited by Teddy Roosevelt, who danced in the
ballroom).

However, in 1916 a fire burned from Grandfa-
ther Mountain to the north to Wilson Creek. It was
immediately followed by a July flood that destroyed
the logging railroad and devastated Ritter Company
operations. Thirty-three homes were washed away,
as well as the lumber camp. The company left town
the following year though the rebuilt sawmill still
saw use.

In 1922 United Mills Company (a cotton mill)
opened south of town and revitalized the area.
However, in 1925, a second fire in the area, this one
from Upper Creek to the south, devastated the area.
The railroad was lost again and is still under repair
in 1925 though service is sporadically available.

Mortimer Today

Mortimer in 1925 is a shadow of what it once was.
With only a population of a little over 100, the tex-
tile mill and the independently run sawmill are the
only businesses in the tiny town. The woods around
the town are, for the most part, stripped bare, mak-
ing the area look desolate and foreboding. The town
also holds an old train depot, a general store, the
school, a sawmill, and the Laurel Hotel. United Mills
Company is across Wilson Creek south of town.

Mortimer has the following areas:

1) Mortimer Depot — Built in September of 1905,
the old depot has seen better days. The building is
still intact and used for the purchase of tickets for
the train north to Edgemont or south to points
east (Adako, Collettsville, Coffeys, Olivett, Warrier,
Valmead, and Lenoir). Bill Meadows is an older
gentleman in employ of the railroad who makes
his living selling tickets and keeping the depot from
falling down, as well as helping move luggage. He is
balding and has a large, white mustache.
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The place is rarely used except by the mill and
for those who travel to Lenoir.

2) Company Store — This store, once owned by Rit-
ter Lumber Company but now owned by United
Mills Company, has all of the amenities that any lo-
cal store might have though there is no name upon
the false-fronted building. A small post office in the
back serves the Mortimer area. All general wares
and foodstuffs can be purchased here but anything
unusual will have to be ordered from Lenoir and
can be expected to arrive on the train within a week.
Unusual orders (such as unusually large weapons
or explosives) will have to be ordered by mail from
Raleigh (or further) and takes up to two months to
arrive.

The store is run by Pete Fox and Fred Greene,
both young men employed by United. Greene is the
technical postmaster of Mortimer at this time and
takes his job very seriously. All of the residents of
the area have post boxes (even the few further down
Wilson Creek Road, who live on the other side of
Hutbur School). Both men are friendly and sur-
prised to see any strangers. They are happy to take
money for the goods here (most of the residents are
paid in company script, good only at the store).

This store has both electricity and indoor
plumbing.

3) Wilson Creek Ford — The dirt path that is Wil-
son Creek Road plunges into the river here where it
crosses a shallow ford that is mostly used by horse
and wagon. Downstream, the supports for the old
railroad bridge that was destroyed in the flood of
1916 can still be seen. Markings on them show how
high the river rose. Upstream is a footbridge is be
used by the local populace to cross Wilson Creek to
the mill.

4) Laurel Inn — The only hotel in Mortimer is the
Laurel Inn. Though it was once a fine hotel, time
has worn it down. The once-grand ballroom is
rarely if ever used, and the rooms seem shabby and
dull. Though the grand chandelier is still in the ball-
room, it is dusty and rarely used.

The Laurel Inn is one of the few houses in town
that has electricity though it is used only for indi-
vidual room lighting and small lamps throughout
the place. The Laurel Inn also has indoor plumb-
ing with WCs upstairs and downstairs. The bath
on both the first and second floor is shared by the
guests. Renting a room at the Laurel Inn only costs
$1 a night, including breakfast and dinner. Each
room has one good-sized bed and could be slept in
by one or two people.

The hotel is run by Mrs. Irene Bradford, a kind
lady in her 50s who keeps the few staff (a couple of
young women who serve as maids, a cook, and a
single bellboy) on their toes. The inn sees little busi-
ness aside from businessmen with United Cotton
Mill and the occasional lost motorist or tourist. Mrs.
Bradford still brags that Teddy Roosevelt once vis-
ited the Laurel Inn and danced in the ballroom. She
tells investigators that President Roosevelt danced
with Mrs. Bill Mortimer in that very room.

5) Mortimer School — This large one-room school-
house almost looks more like a church. Standing
on a high spot on the western edge of town, this
large building dominates the area around it with
wide walls and large windows. This large, one-room
schoolhouse is mostly empty now. It survived the
flood of 1916 and since the town has dwindled, it’s
more room than really needed for the number of
students in the town.

The two teachers here are Mary Greene and
Mattie Tolbert, and the school could serve over a
hundred students. Only 60 are enrolled at the time.
The school has both electricity and indoor plumb-
ing.

6) Sawmill — The sawmill is still used though lum-
ber in the area has grown scarce, especially with the
fire in 1925. It is west of town, upriver from the vil-
lage proper. Though it is still in production with
what little lumber remains in the valley, it is nothing
like the old days.

7) Hardy Farm — This farm barely survives through
a combination of farming various crops (including
stunted cotton), raising as many cattle and sheep as
possible (which isn’t many), and occasionally cut-
ting down a tree on the face of Yellow Buck Moun-
tain. Wilson Hardy owns this dying farm on the
edge of Mortimer and has been here almost as long
as the town has. He and his wife Annette have never
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had any children and have lived near Wilson Creek
for 15 years.

If investigators talk to him, Wilson jokes that
his daddy named him after Wilson Creek. This is
not true as he and his wife moved to Wilson Creek
after they were married. He originally worked at the
saw mill.

8) Sheds and Storage — These small buildings are
all old and some of them water damaged. They are
used for storage of lumber and sometimes cotton,
as well as other things. There is nothing of interest
or value in any of them.

9) Lower Houses — The smallest houses in Mortim-
er lie along the river. There were once houses across
the street from these but they were all washed away
in the flood of ‘16. These are small houses without
electricity or indoor plumbing and the people here
work for United Mills.

10) Larger Homes — These homes were used, origi-
nally, for the middle level employees at the Ritter
Sawmill. Now they are used for those same types of
employees at United Mills. They have neither elec-
tricity nor indoor plumbing but are nicer than the
houses by the river.

11) Manager’s Homes — The largest homes in Mor-
timer are also the nicest. Equipped with both elec-
tricity and indoor plumbing, they are owned by
managers and upper management for United Mills.

12) United Mills Cotton Mill — The main building
of this cotton mill is across the river from Mortimer,
about a tenth of a mile south of town. The mill pro-
duces course yarn and employs just about everyone
in town (even Wilson Hardy occasionally). Some of
the managers here live in town but others live as far
away as Edgemont or even Adako.

Medical services in town are available from
Dr. Alan Shipp, a company doctor, and Mrs. Kath-
erine Ingram, a midwife.

Only a couple of people in town own automo-
biles. Most people rely on the railroad, which runs
by Wilson Creek. A motor car ride to Mortimer
means a rough ride over Staircase Mountain.

Most homes don’t have plumbing or electric-
ity, though the company store, the depot, the Laurel
Inn, and the school are exceptions to this as well as
the old manager’s homes.

Cemeteries

There are two cemeteries near Mortimer, on the
ridge to the east of town off the logging trail there.

The Estes Cemetery is smaller than the Mortimer
Cemetery, both close to each other on a knoll east
of town, on Wilson Ridge.

A partial list of those buried here is included
in the handouts section.

Hutbur School

Just south of Mortimer (a mile past the Campbell
House) stands the Hutbur one-room schoolhouse.
The schoolhouse was constructed by the Hutton
and Bourbonnais Lumber Company when they
were cutting timber in the area. They built the
school for their workers’ children to attend.

The rest of the community of Hut Burrow is
gone, washed away in the 1916 flood and never re-
built.

A post office was also in the vicinity from Nov.
12, 1919 to June 30, 1925. Though the post office is
closed, Hutbur School still services the children at
the south end of Wilson Creek Road.

Edgemont

Edgemont was little more than a gathering of homes
until the narrow gauge Chester and Lenoir Railroad
arrived in 1899. The railroad was upgraded to stan-
dard gauge and reorganized as the Carolina and
Northwestern Railroad by 1903 (C&NW). Being at
the end of the railway, it was also a good rendezvous
point for hired carriages and wagons from resorts in
Linville and Blowing Rock.

The area began to grow, but by 1925, there is
still little to see.

Edgemont is even smaller than Mortimer. It
merely holds a few houses, Coffey’s General Store,
Edgemont Depot, the Edgemont Baptist Church,
the Edgemont Hotel, the tiny Edgemont School,
and a few homes.

Locations in Edgemont

1) Railroad Depot — The Depot marks the northern
terminal of the Carolina and Northwestern Railway
which runs from Lenoir through Mortimer. A depot
building and baggage house mark the spot but since
the flood of 1916, there have been fewer and fewer
visitors. The tracks were washed away in the flood
of 1916 and subsequently rebuilt.

Young Joseph Smiley is in charge of the depot.
A C&NW employee, he usually rooms in a small
house on the other side of Lost Cove Creek from
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the depot. He takes his job very seriously but enjoys
talking with those not from the area.

2) Coffey’s General Store — The white frame coun-
try store has a false front and a front porch with
a bench and rocking chairs. The galvanized metal
ceiling of the store within is quite unique to the
area. The store has all goods that locals in the Wil-
son Creek area could use and Gus Coffey also has
the only telephone in Edgemont.

The store is owned and operated b y Gus Cof-
fey, who is also the postmaster of Edgemont; mail
arrives by train every other day usually — though
with damage caused by the fire in 1925, it has gone
back to the being brought by horse and buggy each
Tuesday and Saturday. Once the train is running on
schedule again, the postal route should get back to
normal.

Gus’ son, Archie Coffey, is 13 years old in 1925.

3) The Checking Station — A place for baggage to
be checked and dealt with for those either meeting
carriages or automobiles from Linville or Blowing
Rock, this small building is used by tourists.

4) The Edgemont Baptist Church — This wooden
structure was built in 1916 after the church itself
was established in Edgemont in 1915. It stands be-
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yond a tall, narrow, one-lane bridge across Wilson
Creek and is used by everyone in the Wilson Creek
Valley since the church in Mortimer was washed
away in 1916. John Haden is the minister here and
has been for some time.

5) The Edgemont Hotel — Also called the Rainbow
Lodge, this place was built by the Carolina and
Northwestern Railroad around 1905 and can house
up to 10 guests. Standing on a rise not far from
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Edgemont Baptist Church, it is three stories high
(the uppermost floor with gabled windows) and has
a porch that runs around the entirety of the build-
ing. Rooms at the hotel are $1.50 a night. A small
kitchen and dining room serves meals at the guest’s
requests for a reasonable rate. The hotel serves as
a tourist hotel for those who want to visit Wilson
Creek. Granny Seehorn sees to those who come to
her hotel with her small staff.

6) Edgemont School — A small, one-room school-
house also stands in Edgemont and serves all of the
youngsters in the area.

7) Cabins — Only about eight or 10 other families
live in the area. One home is the residence of car-
penter William Chase and his wife Connie Chase.
Chase and his wife are very friendly and might be
met in Coffey’s General Store in the evenings.

Most of the other buildings in the area are
small cabins used by tourists, mostly in the summer.

8) Dr. Tatum — Dr. Alexander Tatum and his wife
Leonora live in a fine house across from Coffey’s
General Store. The area around the house and
across from the small creek (connected by bridges)
is cleared and Dr. Tatum’s wife owns 18 lots in the
area. There are barns, stables, riding areas, and a
riding arena on their property, which extends down
the road.

11
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Dr. Tatum is a retired professor of history who
worked at Davidson College for many, many years.
He knows the history of the area very well, includ-
ing some stories about the Campbell House.

Brown Mountain Beach

Brown Mountain Beach lies near Adako about
seven miles south of Mortimer and across Wilson
Creek from Brown Mountain. It was originally built
in the early 1900s by the Perkin’s family and used
for swimming and picnicking by family and friends.
One small building on the property housed a power
plant that generated its own electricity. All of the
buildings were constructed of river rock and native
wood.

The area around Brown Mountain Beach was
devastated by the 1925 fire.

Brown Mountain

Brown Mountain stands at the edge of Caldwell
County a few miles south of Mortimer, lying mostly
in Burke County. Though the railroad tracks run by
the mountain, there is no road in the immediate vi-
cinity.

Strange lights have been seen on the mountain
for hundreds of years. The Brown Mountain Lights
have been mentioned in American Indian mythol-
ogy and were noted by Geraud de Brahm, a German
engineer and the first white man to explore the re-
gion in 1771. He believed the lights were nitrous va-
pors that were born by the wind, and when they met
other niter, they burned.

The lights are strange-looking, sometimes ap-
pearing to be glowing balls of fire, bursting skyrock-
ets, or white lights.

Many stories try to explain the strange phe-
nomena.

Indian legends about the lights go back hun-
dreds of years. According to them, a great battle was
fought on Brown Mountain between the Cherokee
and the Catawba tribes. The Cherokee believe the
lights are spirits of the Indian maidens who contin-
ued to search through the centuries for the bodies
of their husbands and lovers who had died in the
battle.

One legend talks of a planter from the low
country who went to the mountain to hunt but be-
came lost. One of his slaves came searching for him
and was seen looking on the mountain with a lan-
tern night after night. According to the story, though
the slave is gone, his spirit remains, still looking.

Another legend tells of a woman who disap-
peared around 1850 and whose husband was sus-

pected of killing her. The entire community joined
in the search for her and one night of the search, the
strange lights appeared on Brown Mountain. Some
thought it was the spirit of the dead woman, come
back to haunt her murderer and warn the search-
ers to stop looking for her body. The search was
called and the woman’s husband disappeared with-
out a trace shortly after. Years later, a pile of bones
was found under a cliff and identified as the skele-
ton of the missing woman. It is said that the lights
that had been seen during the search have been seen
ever since.

A U.S. Geological Survey in 1913 determined
that the lights were locomotive headlights from the
Catawba Valley south of Brown Mountain. Howev-
er, when the railroad was knocked out in 1916 by
the flood, the lights continued to appear despite the
fact that the power lines had yet to be repaired and
the trains weren’t running.

Another investigation in 1922 determined
that the lights were attributed to locomotive and car
lights and to fires. Neither explanation has satisfied
those who have seen the lights.

Weather in the Wilson Creek Area

Between the creek and low-lying clouds, fog is not
as uncommon during the summer months in the
Wilson Creek Area as it might be elsewhere. Most
common in the mornings and evenings, a good,
thick, cloying fog blows up any time it is convenient
for the keeper (or inconvenient for the investiga-
tors).

Storms rolling through the area can make the
creek rise to what appears to be a dangerous level,
and the roads in the area often wash out enough to
make one leery about using them. When the creek
is high, no road traffic is safe crossing the Mortimer
Ford. Locals stick to the footbridge.

The keeper should use the weather to his best
advantage and it should be noted that neither Mar-
tin Smith nor the ghouls are affected by the weather
in any meaningful way.

Lenoir - Caldwell County
Seat

“The Furniture Town”

Lenoir of 1925 has a population of 3,718 and is the
second in the U.S. in output of chairs and third in
output of furniture in general. It is an established
manufacturing center with woodworking plants
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predominating and textile plants a close second. It
has five large furniture factories, two mirror plants,
two veneer plants, and an excelsior pad factory, as
well as two large builders’ supply plants and two
brickyards. There are also six large cotton mills, a
tannery, leather goods plant, flour mills, a woolen
mill, hunt suits and working pants factory, a candy
plant, and casket works. It has 10 miles of paved
streets and 20 miles of concrete sidewalks.

Lenoir has two banks (one National and one
State) and two building and loan associations. There
is also a new public school building with a large
campus, as well as Davenport College for Women
(the only college in the area). There are two hotels
in the town as well as a golf course.

Lenoir is serviced by the Carolina & North-
western. Tracks run from Edgemont through Mor-
timer, and pass through Lenoir to connect it with
Hickory, Newton, Lincolnton, Gastonia, and York,
as well as Chester S.C. It connects with the Salis-
bury-Asheville line of the Southern in Hickory with
a through Pullman service to New York and Cincin-
nati. It crosses the Wilmington-Rutherford line of
the Seaboard at Lincolnton and it connects with the
Charlotte-Augusta branch in Chest. Lenoir has four
passenger trains a day.

The Lenoir News-Topic is a daily newspaper
that was formed in 1919 by Publisher Fred May
(who would continue to publish the paper until
1929). It was the combination of the Lenoir News,
a semi-weekly paper established in 1898, and the
Daily Evening Lenoir Topic, a daily paper estab-
lished August 27, 1884 after the Lenoir Topic build-
ing and all its contents were destroyed June 7, 1884.
The earlier Lenoir Topic had been first printed Nov.
9, 1876, but all earlier issues of the newspaper were
destroyed in the fire.

The state highway system radiates from Lenoir.
No. 17 runs south from Boone and Blowing Rock
to Hickory, crossing No. 18 at Lenoir. No. 18 con-
nects with Shelby, Morganton, and Wilkesboro. No.
75 connects Lenoir with Taylorsville and Statesville.
Busses run to Blowing Rock, Hickory, Morganton,
and Taylorsville via these roads.

There are a number of summer resorts within
close distance of Lenoir. Linville, Boone, Valle Cru-
sis, and Banner FElk are close and the famous Blow-
ing Rock is only an hour away. Also nearby are Lin-
ville Gorge and Grandfather Mountain.

The Sheriff of Caldwell County from 1922 to
1928 is E T. Sherrill.

Burke County and
Morganton

“Morganton is but a small town, built upon strata
of the jurassic period, particularly rich in coal. Its
mines give it some prosperity. It also has numerous
unpleasant mineral waters, so that the season there
attracts many visitors.”

--Jules Verne
Master of the World, 1904

Though not in the same County, Morganton is ac-
tually about equidistant to the Wilson Creek area as
Lenoir.

Originally, the center of the largest Native
American settlement in North Carolina lay near
present-day Morganton. This Mississippian cul-
ture Chiefdom dated back to about 1000 AD and
lasted until the Europeans came to the New World.
Those first non-native settlers were the Spanish,
who built Fort San Juan in what is now northern
Burke County in 1567, and claimed the area for a
colony of Spanish Florida. The leader of the expedi-
tion, Captain Juan Pardo, left only 30 soldiers at the
fort while he continued exploring. They were wiped
out in the spring of 1568 by the natives and the fort
burned to the ground. However, between takeover
by larger tribes and European disease, the area was
largely abandoned by Native Americans after that.

Burke County was formed from Rowan
County in 1777, and named for Thomas Burke, a
member of the Continental Congress at the time.
He would later become Governor of North Caro-
lina. The county was further divided in later years.
In 1791, parts of Burke and Rutherford Coun-
ties were combined to form Buncombe County. In
1833, parts of Burke and Buncombe Counties were
combined to form Yancy County. In 1841, parts of
Burke and Wilkes Counties were combined to form
Caldwell County and, the next year, parts of Burke
and Rutherford County were combined to form
McDowell County. Finally, Mitchell County was
formed in 1861 from parts of Burke, Caldwell, Mc-
Dowell, Watauga, and Yancy Counties.

Morganton, the County Seat, was established
as Morgansborough in 1784 and made the County
Seat and the site of a circuit court for the North Car-
olina Frontier. In 1795, a post office was established
and an east/west road from the Atlantic Ocean to
Tennessee was soon built. The summer session of
the North Carolina Supreme Court was hosted at
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the courthouse every year from 1847 until the be-
ginning of the Civil War.

Though there was no slave market in Morgan-
ton, William Walton Jr., a merchant who lived in
Charleston until 1808, sent recently-arrived slaves
to his plantation in Burke County along the Johns
River. They were taught to speak English and to
farm and then sold to plantation owners.

Many of the county records were destroyed
in 1865 when Federal raiders under the command
of General George Stoneman threw many court re-
cords onto the courthouse square and burned them.
Downtown Morganton was struck by a fire in 1893
that destroyed many of the wooden commercial
buildings. They were rebuilt within a few years.

A progressive city, Morganton was one of the
first municipalities in the state to provide its own
electric system and it began public education in
1900 with classes meeting in the town hall and the
First United Methodist Church. In 1926, the city
purchased 6,000 acres of land in a nearby moun-
tainous watershed to protect the water supply. By
1930, the population of Morganton was 6,000.

The State Hospital in Morganton, originally
established in 1875 by the Enabling Act passed in
1874, started as the Western Carolina Insane Asy-
lum and admitted its first patient in 1883. In 1890,
the name of the hospital was changed to the State
Hospital at Morganton. It serves 65 counties and is
located at 1000 South Sterling St. It is a vast brick
building with room for 1,000 patients of all kinds, as
well as numerous outbuildings and support struc-
tures. Superintendent of the hospital from 1907 to
1937 was Dr. John McCampbell.

The city also boasts the North Carolina School
for the Deaf, a day/boarding educational complex
that opened its doors in 1894. Originally called the
North Carolina School for the Deaf and Dumb, the
name was changed to the North Carolina School for
the Deaf in 1916. Edward McKee Goodwin of Ra-
leigh became the first superintendent and held that
position until 1936. The school has one mission: the
education of deaf children. Since its founding, it has
been flexible in its approach to instruction based on
the children.

Morganton also hosts Broadoaks Sanatori-
um, a private institution for the mentally ill found-
ed in 1901 by Dr. Isaac Montrose Taylor and two
other physicians from the state hospital when they
acquired an old mansion on Valdese Avenue. In
1903, Taylor became the institutes chief medical of-
ficer and eventual sole owner. He and his wife Susan
lived across the street. Dr. Taylor died in 1921 af-
ter his daughter-in-law died shortly after childbirth

under his care. Dr. James W. Vernon became super-
intendent of the facility and by 1924, the sanatori-
um had a strong national reputation for outstand-
ing treatment. That same year, a fire killed four of
the 50 patients in the place. Dr. Erasmus H.E. Taylor
was hired onto the staff in 1925.

Numerous weekly newspapers have come and
gone through Morganton’s history: The Blue Ridge
Blade, Burke County Times, Carolina Mountain-
eer, The Farmer’s Friend, The Independent Press,
and The Morganton Star. By the 1920s, only one
remained: The News-Herald, printed every Thurs-
day. The paper was founded in 1899 as the Burke
County News but became the News-Herald official-
ly in 1901. The original publisher of the paper was
T.G. Cobb, who died in 1916. By 1925, it was being
published by his daughter, Miss Beatrice Cobb, who
purchased it from her father’s estate when he died.
She was a 28-year-old schoolteacher in 1916.

The Morganton Public Library was estab-
lished on Nov. 2, 1923 when the one-room library
was opened on the second floor of the downtown
Morganton building at 124 West Union Street. Miss
Eugenia Peed was the first librarian and in 1927, a
Hupmobile belonging to William McVey, the hus-
band of librarian Miltanna Rowe McVey, was used
as the first bookmobile.

Morganton is home to furniture plants, ho-
siery mills, a hydroelectric power plant (at nearby
Lake James), tannery, cotton mills, and flour mills.
The main crop of the county includes livestock,
dairying, grain fruits, timber, and some gold. The
nearby mountains produce asbestos, gold, and brick
clay. Mountain Ice and Coal Company has plants
in Morganton and Valdese. The Great Atlantic and
Pacific Tea Company (a chain store) also came to
Morganton in the 1920’s, making things harder for
local grocers.

Hotels in the city include the Burkemont Ho-
tel, which opened in 1920 at the corner of N. Green
and Patterson Streets with a frame structure of 24
rooms. Also available in town is the Caldwell Ho-
tel, which opened June 15, 1922. The four-story, 50-
room brick structure had a dining room and fine
services. Single rooms without a bath cost $1.25 a
day, while singles with a bath cost $1.75 a day. Dou-
bles without a bath were rented for $2 a day while
doubles with a bath were $3 a day. Meals averaged
75 cents. Bus fare to the train station was 24 cents
(round trip) and garage rental was 25 cents per day.

Some local churches include the Calvary Bap-
tist Church (est. 1910 — new church building in
Dec. 1925), Calvary Lutheran Church (est. 1910),
First Presbyterian Church (est. 1797), First United
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Methodist Church of Morganton (est. 1846), and
Grace Episcopal Church (est. 1845). Grace Hospi-
tal opened Aug. 1, 1906 across King Street from the
rectory of Grace Church.

The city is serviced by the Southern Ameri-
can Railway Express lines, which run westward into
Ashville before splitting and heading west to Chero-
kee County where it meets with the Louisville and
Nashville line, and south to Hendersonville and
even far off southwest Transylvania County. East-
ward, the tracks meet with the Carolina and North-
western tracks in Hickory and continue eastward to
Salisbury. There, the line splits with one line head-
ing south for Charlotte and points south and an-
other continuing east to Lexington, Greensboro,
Raleigh, and Goldsboro. Tracks also connect to
Mocksville, Winston Salem, and Wilkesboro.

By 1924, 300 miles of road were built in Burke
County (55 miles of it State Highway). Thirty miles
of N.C. 10 (later U.S. 70) were paved, including eight
miles to the Caldwell County Line and 17 miles to
the Cleveland County Line. The Number 10 High-
way was the main east/west thoroughfare through
the county. It would not become completely hard-
surfaced road until 1927.

By 1918, the Burke Garage Co. was selling
Chevrolet, Dodge, and Buick automobiles. By 1919,
it was an authorized Ford dealer. In June of 1919,
the Bristol Davis Motor Company offered used cars
for sale.

The Sheriff of Burke County is Richard “Dick”
Venable Michaux (Dem.) from 1922 to 1925; Ju-
lian McDowell Walton (Dem.) from 1925 to 1926;
John Julius (Jule) Hallyburton (Dem.) from 1926
to 1928; and Homer Ballengee (Rep.) from 1928
to 1930. County Coroners included Dr. ].B. Riddle
(Dem.) from 1922 to 1926, Dr. James R. Anderson
(Dem.) from 1926 to 1928, and J.C. Burnett (Rep.)
from 1928 to 1930.

Morganton is the setting for Jules Vernes’ Mas-
ter of the World and there is great detail about the
town in the 19th century in the book. It is also men-
tioned in John Ehle’s novel The Land Breakers.

Darker History

Morganton is also the site of the first woman
hanged in North Carolina: Frances Stewart Silver
was hanged in Morganton July 12, 1833, for the axe-
murder of her husband Charles on Dec. 22, 1831.
The dismembered parts of Charles Silver were bur-
ied in three different graves as they were discovered.

Only 18 at the time of her husband’s murder,
Frances Silver was quickly tried, convicted, and sen-

tenced to death for his murder. Laws at the time did
not permit her to testify in her own defense, but she
claimed to have killed her abusive husband when he
was loading a gun to shoot her. Though public sen-
timent turned in her favor, it was too late: she was
already convicted and sentenced.

Her family successfully broke her out of jail by
disguising her in a man’s coat and hat. She was car-
ried out of Morganton in a load of hay but the Sher-
iff and his posse caught up with her and returned
her to prison.

She was unable to even make a final statement.
As she tried to speak, her father drowned her out,
shouting “Die with it in you, Frankie!” Due to the
heat and humidity, she was quickly buried in an un-
marked grave behind the Buckthorn Tavern, a few
miles west of Morganton. The exact location of her
grave is unknown.
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The Campbell House
and Surroundings

Information about the Campbell House and its sur-
roundings are presented here for simplicity. Those
things that change from year to year are noted at
the end of each section. Main information is for the
first scenario (in 1925) with notes at the end of each
section for 1926 and 1927.

History

The Wilson Creek area was first settled around
1750, when European pioneers and loggers came to
the area. Most of them were Scotch-Irish. It was not
until 1773 when William Campbell, allegedly of Ire-
land, settled in the area with his family and a small
retinue of servants and relatives. He constructed
Campbell House within a year of their finding a
spot on Yellow Buck Mountain that overlooked
Wilson Creek.

His son, Sean Campbell (b. 1744) was part of
the retinue, and the real troubles in the gorge began
when Sean traveled to Europe in 1780 and discov-
ered several tomes that hinted at terrible power for
those who might use it. He did not return home un-
til 1783. He soon gained a reputation among those
settlers scattered in the hills of being a wizard.

That same year, a wandering Presbyterian
minister befriended his father, William, who put up
the money for a small church to be built at the bot-
tom of his lane. It was built in 1784 and the few set-
tlers in the area began to attend services when they
could.

In 1785, William died only a few months af-
ter his new church was completed. He was the first
to be buried in the churchyard. Sean Campbell be-
came master of Campbell House.

Sean took to studying wizardry in earnest,
constructing a laboratory and gate in the base-
ment under the house that led to an underground
chamber under the church. Word of his malignan-

cy spread and he even contacted ghouls in the vi-
cinity and made pacts with them. Strange stories
started to circulate in the gorge, and folks started to
see strange creatures and sights, especially near the
Campbell House and especially at night.

In 1806, Sean’s terror ended when he was
killed by a spell that went awry and torn to pieces
by the thing that he had summoned. What little was
found of his remains was buried in the cemetery.
The people of the gorge breathed a sigh of relief.

Campbell House changed hands several times
after that for the next decade and a half, finally be-
ing purchased in 1821 by Matthew Wagner, who
found Sean Campbell’s secret laboratory and start-
ed to study what was there. He was found frozen to
death on the roof of his house in the dead of winter
two years later.

In 1826, the house was sold to Martin Smith,
who also found the laboratory, as well as Wagner’s
and Campbell’s books. Like Campbell before him,
he contacted the few ghouls that lived in the hills
and made certain terrible pacts with them. He prac-
ticed the magic that was hidden in the books in the
house and learned what spells the ghouls would
teach him. He traveled to the dreamlands to learn
more and had soon amassed some little power.

Smith died in 1839 and was buried in the cem-
etery at the bottom of the hill. However, Smith, the
true horror behind the occurrences at Campbell
House to this day, had planned for his death and
soon awoke in his coffin, used the gate he had al-
ready constructed there, and returned to the house
to continue his experiments and research. He ig-
nored the Bells, who had moved into the house that
same year, until they were a nuisance to him. Then
he killed the youngest daughter to satiate his own
vicious needs.
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His travels often took him away from the
house, but whenever he returned to find some new
tenant, he drove them off again.

Smith has been the cause of all the terrible
things that have happened in the Campbell House
since he died. He is the one who either drives away
or kills those who are foolish enough to trespass on
what he still considers his land.

He drove Alexander Templeton from the place
in 1857, killed the Union soldiers who vanished
there in 1865, tricked Samuel Fisk into the gate that
led to his own coffin in 1869, murdered Reverend
Wilber Thompson in 1887, and killed or frightened
away all those who died or disappeared. He was par-
tially responsible for the 1916 flood and fire and,
more recently, did what he could to drive people
away from his land.

There were periods where nothing happened
in the house, sometimes decades long. In those
times, Martin Smith was absent for whatever rea-
son: living amongst the ghouls or traveling either in
the dreamlands or the waking ones.

Description

A lane leads up the side of Yellow Buck Mountain
and through an area that has not been overworked
by the local loggers. The lane is treacherous, par-
tially washed out, and has three sharp switchbacks
before it levels out somewhat for almost a quarter of
amile. The trees and undergrowth are thick around
the area and grass grows between the ruts in the
trail.

The lane eventually opens up into an over-
grown clearing in the trees, those to the left being
thin, while those to the right and behind the house
are relatively thick.

A good-sized clapboard house stands in the
clearing behind a picket fence. A few outbuildings
stand behind it. The house is obviously old but in
fairly good shape. It is two stories high with a steep-
ly sloped roof pierced by three chimneys. To the
right is a lower building connected to the end of the
house, obviously of newer construction.

The building appears to have been added
to and the left side of the house where the porch
stands is the oldest. The windows are shuttered and
the house is closed up tight. The outbuildings are
in poor repair and nearly falling down though the
house itself appears to be intact.

If anyone has a compass, they can determine
that the house faces north, back towards Mortimer.

010

Outside of the House

If the investigators explore the outbuildings of the
house they find that they have probably not been
used in years (except for the outhouse).

There are three intact buildings scattered
around the house, a ruined building, and the out-
house.

1) Old Carriage House — This building is of fairly
new construction but leans towards the west (away
from Campbell House) and has several holes in the
roof. The large double doors once had glass win-
dows set high within them but now merely gape
emptily at the outside world. There are some re-
mains of tack and harness in this place and there
are two empty gasoline cans here as well, but it is
otherwise empty.

It could be used for storage of an automobile
and is large enough.

2) Ruined Stables — This building has not been kept
up but is still sound (except for holes in the roof).
It is probably as old as the house and dating back to
the 18th century though it is still solid. It only leans
a little to the north.

There are several stalls here for billeting hors-
es as well as a haymow above with a wooden door
on the north side. A rotten rope still hangs from the
rusted pulley attached to a wooden arm over the
door. A ladder, nailed to the wall, allows access to
the hayloft from the inside.

(1926) One of the stalls stinks of an animal
smell and of freshly turned earth, almost as if some-
one had dug up the floor. The remains of a raccoon
are in the stall, the bones gnawed on by some ani-
mal. The rotting remains stink and are only a few
weeks old. If the teeth marks are examined by some-
one with Medicine or Biology, they are found to be
very odd, almost a mix of human and animal.
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3) Old Servants’ Quarters — This small building is
mostly intact and obviously very old. The log cabin
no longer has any glass in the windows and has long
been emptied of everything but a few broken beds.
This was once the servants’ quarters and has not
been used in years.

(1927) An old, rusty axe leans against the fire-
place here. This is one that Wilson Hardy left in this
place by accident about six months ago.

4) Ruins of old Kitchen — This building obviously
collapsed some time ago and there is little left but
the large fireplace and the fallen ceiling and walls.
There is room to get into the place and hide if any-
one wanted to. This is the ruins of the old kitchen
that originally served the house.

This area is dangerous and anyone venturing
into the wreck must make a DEX x5 or injure him-
self for 1d3 points of damage.

5) Outhouse — This small building is obviously of
newer construction. It is a single-seater with the
typical moon in the door and a vent in the back. A
sealed jar has a single roll of toilet paper within. An-
other jar is filled with lime for use after the facilities
have been used.

6) Well — Of obvious newer construction, this well
stands close to the kitchen and a line runs directly
into the house to the pump in the kitchen.

Interior

The investigators should have keys for the three
outside doors and all of the interior doors (except
for one of the doors in the dining room that no
key fits). There is no electricity in the house and
each room is fitted with several ornate and lovely
oil lamps. The only running water in the house is
the pump in the kitchen. The ceilings in the house
are over 9 feet high in every case on the first and
second floors (though not in the attic).

There is dust everywhere. The place has not
been inhabited for some time and it’s a mess. Inves-
tigators find mouse and rat droppings in the place
as well as many dead insects, spider webs, and the
like.

It should be noted that anything that was
moved, destroyed, removed, or damaged in earli-
er scenarios is as it was left. Everything else is un-
touched. In 1926, the ghouls have investigated the
house (and even have keys) but know better than to
touch anything.

(1926). There is a subtle smell about the entire
house of animals and freshly turned earth, almost
like an open grave.

The following areas are within the house:

FIRST FLOOR

1) Porches — Fach of these small porches has a flat
roof (for the most part), making it easy for some-
one to climb to the roof and let himself in through
the windows there if he so wishes.

A trellis is attached to the back porch, making
the climb even easier. It is covered with vines that
do not deter a climber one bit. Two more trellises
climb the back side of the house as well, giving easy
access to the oddly shaped storage room and the
master bedroom.

(1926) When the investigators first approach
the house, successful Listen checks give them the
impression that something is banging around in-
side, almost as if someone in very heavy boots were
running up the stairs. This is the first ghoul flee-
ing. It takes a minute or so to find the right key and
get the front door open. The ghoul is long gone by
then.

(1927) The back door to the living room has
been jimmied open and needs a new lock before it
can be repaired. The closest place to get one is in
Lenoir or Morganton.

2) Living Room — All of the furniture in this room
are covered with dust covers. There are several com-
fortable chairs, a love seat, end tables (all with oil
lamps upon them) and a small writing desk here.
There is nothing interesting about any of the fur-
niture though it is very old though in good shape.

Implements for a fire stand near the fireplace
(though neither they nor it appear to have been
used in some time). Over the fireplace is a large
portrait of a harsh-looking man with red hair in
18th century clothing. This is actually a picture of
William Campbell though there is really no way for
the investigators to learn that.

A narrow flight of steps with an ornate railing
stands on one side of the room, the carpeted treads
dusty and worn. A door in the back of the steps
leads down to the basement.

One of the doors that leads to the nearby din-
ing room is locked and there is no sign of a key.
Anyone succeeding in a Locksmith roll at half their
chances (if he has the right tools) can get the door
unlocked and opened. Otherwise, it has to stay
locked and closed.

A wide vent lies in the floor to the northwest
and leads down to the furnace in the basement be-
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low. Another vent is in the center of the ceiling and
leads to the landing above. The only heat in the
house in the winter is from the wood burning fur-
nace in the basement and the fireplaces. The vents
are used to move the heat from the first floor to the
second. They also make it easier to hear between
the landing, the living room, and the main base-
ment.

(1926) When the investigators first enter this
room, there is a charnel smell and the stink of
freshly turned earth. It soon disappears.

The door at the top of the basement steps is
ajar and another successful Spot Hidden check re-
veals a fresh mark on the top step: a bit of fresh dirt
and a leaf is there in a half circle, almost like a hoof
print.

3) Coat Closet — This small, empty cloak closet
has a few pegs on the walls and a more recently in-
stalled bar with a few empty coat hangers upon it.

4) Study — A large bookcase with several dusty
books upon it stands against the interior wall of
this room. Most of them are of little interest though
they might be of value if the inheritor of the estate
can get them to a large city and find an appropriate
buyer.

An unadorned ledger is on the bookcase to-
wards the top and stuffed behind several oth-
er books. It cannot be found unless the bookcase
is searched or cleaned (which takes at least a half
hour if the books are just dumped, and around
two hours if the bookcase is carefully searched or
cleaned). This is a sketchy journal of Randolph
Walker and is actually an accounting ledger that he
wrote some of his thoughts and fears within. If the
investigators find this, give them Handout #2 — the
ledger. There are only a few entries in the makeshift
journal but they are disturbing.

In the southeast corner is a large, roll-top
desk of great age and possible value. A newer office
chair sits in front of it. The desk itself is locked and
the key is atop the bookcase on the highest shelf
(and not visible to the eye) shoved to the very back.
It takes someone at least six feet tall and willing to
get a little dusty to get to it.

The desk can also be opened with a successful
Locksmith roll or broken open if 20 points of dam-
age is done to it. It is filled with the papers and pa-
perwork of Randolph Walker but nothing of great
interest or help to the investigators.

5) Parlor — Three more plush chairs (also covered
with sheets) in a more intimate environment are in
this room. Heavy drapes cover the windows and a

thick rug makes the room cozier. A single oil lamp
sits on a small table in the room.

(1926) A successful Spot Hidden notes what
appears to be a muddy scuff on the rug in one cor-
ner. It almost looks like a hoof.

(1927) A successful Spot Hidden notes what
appears to be a muddy scuff on the rug in one cor-
ner. It almost looks like a hoof but is old and cov-
ered in dust.

6) Dining Room — This huge room has a great
oak table in the center surrounded by several fine
chairs. The furniture is all covered by dust covers. A
few of the windows are cracked and need replace-
ment panes. The south door to the living room is
locked (see above) and no key fits the door.

A few nondescript paintings adorn the walls.
A pair of crossed sabers is over the western fire-
place (nearer the kitchen). Nothing lies over the
fireplace to the east. Two large chandeliers hang
from the ceiling over the table. There are numer-
ous candles in them that have been gnawed by the
rats. Each can be lowered by a crank on the wall.

(1925) If anyone closely examines the west-
ern fireplace, they can smell smoke as if a fire had
been lit here not long ago though there is no sign
of any fire.

7) Kitchen —A great fireplace stands on one wall.
Across the room in the corner is a newer wood-
burning stove. An icebox stands in another corner
and a small table and ladder back chairs are by the
southern window. Cupboards and shelves domi-
nate the rest of the room and investigators find var-
ious utensils within. A rough sink and a pump are
under the window on the north side of the room.
The pump works tolerably well and a pipe leads to
a well near the back of the kitchen outside.

(1925) If anyone closely examines the fire-
place, they can smell smoke as if a fire had been
lit here not long ago though there is no sign of any
fire.

SECOND FLOOR

8) Landing — The landing at the top of the stairs
is empty and a large vent is set in the floor here.
Though it is hard to see into the living room with-
out first removing the grating in the floor here and
in the ceiling below, most of the view is still blocked.

(1926) A successful Spot Hidden check notices
a bit of fur or hair caught in the vent, as if some ani-
mal walked over it and caught it upon it. The gray-
ish hair is long, thick, and dirty. The closest identity
one might make to it is of a goat.
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9) Large Bedroom — This large room has a double
bed completely covered by dust covers. There is a
dresser and a wardrobe in the room, as well as a
comfortable chair in the corner between the win-
dows, also protected by the dust covers. It is easy to
get into this room from the roof of the front porch.

10) North Bedroom — Another larger bedroom
with a double bed and furniture covered by dust
covers. There is a small writing desk and chair in
the room as well as a dresser. Under the bed is a
framed photograph of a lovely woman that was
probably taken within the last ten years. It is easy to
get into this room from the roof of the front porch.

11) Bedroom — Another bedroom with double bed
and dresser, as well as a wooden chair. An oil lamp
is on a night stand. The dust in this room is thick.
This is one of the safer rooms in the house as there
is no way to easily get to the window from outside.

12) Bedroom — Another bedroom with double bed
and wardrobe and hat stand. An oil lamp is on the
night stand. This is one of the safer rooms in the
house as there is no way to easily get to the window
from outside.

13) South Bedroom — Another bedroom with a
double bed, chest at its foot, and dresser. A com-
fortable chair and small table are also in the room.
An oil lamp is on a night stand. This bedroom is
also relatively safe.

14) Oddly Shaped Storage Room — This strange-
ly shaped room has a few articles that were obvi-
ously stored some time ago. Four extra chairs that
match those in the dining room are here, as well as
a small chest filled with worn shoes. There is also
a large copper tub (the only way to take a bath in
the house).

A trellis outside of the window gives easy ac-
cess to the room from without. The lock on this
door is broken and does latch.

15) Master Bedroom — This is the largest bedroom
in the house but not the safest. There is a large fire-
place against one wall as well as a large, four-post-
er bed under the window on the north wall. Two
night stands flank the bed, each with an ornate oil
lamp upon them. Another writing desk stands near
the southern wall and a small couch and comfort-
able chair stand in the corner across from it. Both a
wardrobe and a dresser are also in the room.

The western windows look out over the kitch-
en roof and the northern window gives a view
down the valley and of the ruined church. A trellis

covered with vines is near the south window. One
of the panes is broken on that window.

16) Steps to Attic — A very steep set of stairs go up
from the landing to the attic above. Anyone run-
ning down these stairs must make a DEX x5 roll or
fall and receive 1d4 points of damage.

(1926) If the investigators come straight here
after entering the house, that same stink of turned
earth is present here.

THIRD FLOOR

17) Attic — A substantial attic space is unfinished
except for the floor. The rafters and roof beams are
evident and the sloped roof makes the room feel
cramped and confined. A single gabled window
does not let in much light through its dusty panes,
even if the shutters are thrown back.

A broken chair and a few old trunks filled
with clothing sit near the window as if someone
had used the former to keep a lookout. (This chair
is the very one the union soldier used to keep watch
the night he disappeared).

A secret panel is set in the stones of the chim-
ney. If a fire is lit in either of the fireplaces down-
stairs, the attic smells strongly of smoke and it
is easy to find this secret door by examining the
chimney. Otherwise, a successful Spot Hidden is
required if the chimney is searched directly.

The panel opens into the chimney itself but
another panel on the other side can be opened to
allow access into the secret attic.

18) Secret Attic — This unfinished attic is very dusty
except for a spot between the two chimneys where
someone has recent worn at path. There are no
windows here and, without light, it is pitch black.
On the far wall of the attic, carved into the wood
of the wall and brick of the chimney is a strange
circle of lines and symbols some eight feet across.
Over this is another circle, this one painted on the
wall. There are actually two gates here, one that al-
ways functions and the other that is activated un-
less someone says the proper words.

Martin Smith enchanted the newer gate to
only work if his name is not uttered just before en-
tering. If it is not activated (by saying his name),
the user goes through the stone gate and appears
standing on a similar circle in the ghoul warren
chamber beneath the church basement (see be-
low). The trip costs one magic point and one san-
ity point.

If the person moving through the gate does
NOT mutter the name “Martin Smith,” he finds
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himself on his back in a coffin buried in the cem-
etery at the ruined church with a long-dead corpse
beside him. Before he was interred, Martin Smith
painted a gate on the bottom of his coffin, ensuring
that anyone who followed him would end up there.

The gate out of the coffin returns to the at-
tic but this time, the name “Martin Smith” must
be said before it works at all. This gate is two way
(though a person must go through completely be-
fore they are trapped). Anyone who only puts an
arm in the gate is able to feel the coffin and body
within (Sanity loss 0/1d4), and any trapped com-
panions if that is the case but is able to remove his
arm.

Anyone trapped in the coffin has an hour of
air before he passes out, unconscious. After that, he
has another hour or so before he actually expires.
There is no easy way to get more air into the cof-
fin though smart investigators might try to find a
tube of some kind to put into the coffin to allow
their friend to breathe. Finding oneself suddenly
trapped in a coffin costs 1/1d6 Sanity.

The coffin lies in Martin Smith’s grave in the
cemetery, a very significant clue as to who is doing
all this. The body is that of Samuel Fisk (as his wal-
let can attest). It has been far too long for an autop-
sy but if there is a way to determine cause of death,
it would be found to be asphyxiation.

BASEMENT

19) Basement — This was obviously once a kitchen
of some kind long ago. A new wood-burning fur-
nace stands in one corner with a pile of timber in
another corner.

A secret panel is in the back of the fireplace,
opening to a crawlspace that leads to the hidden
laboratory. This door is fairly complex and the
grate must be manipulated correctly to unlatch the
door.

20) Well room — An old well that has been covered
with an iron lid is in this room. The well dried up
years ago and was replaced with one outside of the
house. Another small door here leads to the root
cellar.

21) Root Cellar — This is a root cellar directly into
the earth. There are a few rotten vegetables here but
nothing of interest.

(1926) A Spot Hidden reveals more of the
hoof prints in the soft dirt floor of the root cellar.

(1927) A Spot Hidden reveals more of the
old, dusty hoof prints in the soft dirt floor of the
root cellar.

22) Storage/Junk — Another storage room full of
junk is here. There are old wagon wheels, broken
furniture, broken tools and equipment.

Hidden by the items against the back wall is
another circle of strange runes and symbols. This
gate is only five feet across and leads to a circle of
stones near the top of the lane where the switch-
backs begin. The gate in the woods might be stum-
bled upon if someone searches the forest carefully.
Travel via this gate costs one magic point and one
sanity point.

Travel via the gate from the woods requires an
actual effort to move into the circle (costing a mag-
ic point and a sanity point) and only works of the
user truly wants to travel through the gate.

23) Hidden Laboratory —This large room is a
sub-basement that was converted to a laboratory
by Sean Campbell and is still sometimes used by
Martin Smith. A great fireplace across the room has
seen recent use and several retorts with strange and
noxious liquids are sitting on the hearth.

In the center of the room is another of the
large circles painted in reddish brown and filled
with odd sigils and letters and numbers. This was
the ancient summoning circle used by Sean Camp-
bell until the accident that destroyed him. Though
the circle has no actual power, it was often used
by him for “protection” against those creatures he
summoned: At least he thought it offered him pro-
tection.

The room is filled with tables covered with
ancient (but apparently still used) alchemical
equipment. Though dirty and disgusting, the place
has the feel of a real, working laboratory. There are
ashes in the fireplace. Someone has been using it
recently.

A bookcase against one wall has several
moldy and rotten books, most of which are ruined
or useless. There are four books that are intact (and
useful enough) to warrant attention. They include:
Sean Campbell’s Book, Matthew Wagner’s Notes,
Samuel Fisk’s Dairy, and Martin Smith’s Book. All
are detailed at the end of the scenario.

In a secret compartment in the west fireplace
are duplicates of Sean Campbell’s Notes detailing
the spells. It is impossible to find this secret panel
(which might come into play in The Wizard of Wil-
son Creek).

Against the far wall is another circle of strange
symbols and runes. This gate is like the others but
leads to the small secret room in the ruined church.
It costs one magic point and one sanity point to
use.
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(1927) In the far fireplace is a small secret
compartment that is open. It is free of dust and
something obviously once lay within. These were
Sean Campbell’s notes and copies of his spells that
were taken by Wilson Hardy.

Gates in the Campbell House
As the number of gates in the house might be-
come confusing, they are summarized here:

+  Secret Laboratory (23) connected to Church
Basement.

Cellar Storage room (22) connected to gate near
lane.

+  Asecret Attic (18) gate goes to the ghoul warren.

Secret Attic (18) trap gate only activates if the
name “Martin Smith” is not said. It leads to
Martin Smith’s coffin.

The Abandoned Church

Wilson Creek Presbyterian Church has been aban-
doned since 1887 (for the last 40 years). It was es-
tablished in 1784 and built that same year, first be-
ing used in 1785. William Campbell financed the
construction of the church but his son turned that

to other ends. Sean made sure that a secret room
was constructed at one end of the basement so that
he would have a place to hide if he wanted.

The upper church building is completely
empty. The altar and pews were all removed some-
time after the church was abandoned. The short
tower is dangerous and if the investigator climbs to
the small bell room (bereft of bells), a SIZ x5 roll
is made; if successful, the floor collapses under him
and he falls for 1d4 damage. If 05 or less is rolled,
the entire tower tips sideways, collapsing and caus-
ing 2d6 damage to anyone unlucky enough to be
caught inside.

Steps go down from the ground floor in one
corner of the main chapel, however, revealing a wa-
ter damaged basement that is empty of everything
except dust, dirt, insects, and debris fallen from the
ceiling above. If the basement is carefully measured
off, it is found some eight feet shorter than the
church building above. A secret panel can be found
in the stone wall near the front of the church that
opens into a small chamber some eight feet deep
that runs the width of the church.

The secret room is also water damaged and
another gate carved on the wall that leads to the
secret laboratory in the basement of the Campbell
House. This gate costs 1 MP and 1 Sanity point to
use. In the corner is a small hole that leads to what
appears to be a tunnel dug into the dirt. This leads
into the ghoul warren.

In the corner opposite the gate is a crumpled
skeleton in the uniform of a Union soldier. This is
the remains of the poor man whom Smith dragged
to his doom in 1865, the man who vanished from
his attic watch post.

(1927) In another corner is a recently dead
body of a tramp. No marks can be found upon him
and he appears to have died in his sleep. The body
has been here for some time: the nails have sepa-
rated and fallen off the body and the skin has burst
open in several places to reveal muscles and fat un-
derneath. It is overall a greenish-red and smells ter-
rible. This is actually a zombie animated by Wilson
Hardy. He stores it here when he isn’t using it.

If this body is returned to Mortimer, some-
one (barely) recognizes it as a hobo who passed
through the town about a month ago. If an autop-
sy is performed, traces of arsenic are found in the
corpse’s tissues. Wilson Hardy murdered the man,
poisoning him when he passed through and col-
lecting the corpse after he had gone down the road.

Locals attest that Hardy gave the man a ride
in his wagon the day he left town — Hardy admits
to it, telling them that the man wanted to be let off
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at the church as he was not feeling well. Hardy says
he turned back. A Psychology roll reveals he is not
completely telling the truth.

The Cemetery

The Wilson Creek Cemetery has seen better days
and holds about 40 graves. Most of them are un-
readable with age though a few, especially those of
the rich, are still intact and legible.

A few stunted trees grow in the church-
yard, which is connected to the ruined Wilson
Creek Presbyterian Church. Investigators can look
around the cemetery as much as they want and a
list of most of the graves they can find is included
in the handouts section.

There is little to find though there might be
some clues or connections with the case. Martin
Smith’s grave lies in the corner near the church,
right where William Chase one night saw him
standing.

The Ghoul Warren

The ghouls that once inhabited this part of the Blue
Ridge Mountains are gone, for the most part. Mar-
tin Smith demanded solitude and there was little for
the ghouls here anyway, so they have gone ... for
now.

The warren is a crisscross of tunnels and
crawlways under the Yellow Buck Mountain. Many
of them used to connect to graves or other evil plac-
es. The tunnels go for miles and connect to the sur-
face in a very few places (such as under the church).
The easiest way to enter or exit the place is via the
gate painted crudely on one wall of a wide central
chamber that goes to the secret attic at the cost of
one magic point and one point of sanity.

A second gate near the first is well hidden un-
der a coating of mud and dirt and debris not far
from the first. This strange-looking and intricate
gate leads to the Plain of Ghouls in the Dreamlands.
It costs five magic points and one sanity point to
enter this gate. If anyone is foolish enough to ex-
plore this gate, see “The Gate is Opened” in “The
Return.”

Anyone in the warren who examines the floor
finds traces of hoof prints as well as fresher traces of
bare footprints (Martin Smith).

(1926) There are a dozen ghouls wandering
around in this large warren and it is only a matter of
time before one or more of them stumble across the
investigators. In that case, the creatures either attack
or flee (if outnumbered, they usually flee), trying to
destroy light sources and leaving investigators help-

less. The creatures try to capture and question in-
vestigators as well, in the hopes of learning what has
happened to Martin Smith. They do not hesitate to
kill if need be (or to thin the investigators’ ranks).

In a main chamber of the warren is a recent-
ly dead body though there is little left of it. The re-
mains are that of a man of good height and sol-
id build, but the flesh has been stripped from his
bones and there are no organs or even skin left. The
marrow has been sucked from the bones and they
have been gnawed on by something. This is the re-
mains of William Chase who recently disappeared.
The ghouls captured and interrogated him, then
killed and later ate him. Examining or seeing the re-
mains costs 1/1d4+1 sanity.

(1927) Anyone in the warren who examines
the floor finds old traces of hoof prints as well as
older traces of bare footprints and newer signs of
booted prints in the dirt.

Final Notes on the Campbell House

As the Campbell House is the setting for three of
the four scenarios in this book (and a good base
of operations for investigators in the fourth), the
Keeper should take great pains to see that players
don’t treat it as many players do in Call of C’thulhu:
burning it down or blowing it up.

I’ve noticed in many games I've run or played
that players are quick to destroy that which they
don’t understand, usually with good reason. How-
ever, in this case, the Campbell House has some de-
fenders.

If players try to burn down or destroy the
house, those who inhabit or protect it (Martin
Smith, the ghouls, or Wilson Hardy) do their best
to stop them. Furthermore, with the recent fires in
the area, the locals of Mortimer are likely to lynch
anyone who starts another large fire in the vicinity.
Players should be reminded of this. Arson is a crime
and those who indulge in it, especially in this area
at this time, are likely to receive hefty fines and pos-
sibly even jail sentences, regardless of the fact that
they only destroyed their own property.

If the inevitable happens and the Campbell
House is destroyed before the Keeper has made full
use of it (and this WILL happen some cases, play-
ers being players), there is no reason why the land
could not be sold off to someone else who builds
here and finds a few things. If such is the case, the
Keeper will have more work to do, though there is
no reason why any of the other scenarios could not
be played without the Campbell House present.

3
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The House on Yellow
Buck Mountain - 1925

Introduction

Dr. Joseph Abington receives a letter (Handout #1 —
the letter) from a Lenoir, N.C., law firm concerning
the death of his distant cousin Randolph Walker.
Apparently, Abington is the sole inheritor of the en-
tire estate though he has to go to Lenoir to sign the
paperwork and make the proper arrangements. It
cannot be done over the telephone. He can try to
use his solicitor to take possession of the house but
his lawyer tells him, quite frankly, he should go and
examine it as well. As a professor, he has the sum-
mer off and so should have no trouble getting down
there.

Abington can take several friends with him
(and should — it’s a long trip) via train from New
York to Hickory and then to Lenoir. They should ar-
rive at Lenoir, N.C., or Mortimer N.C. (Lenoir can
be skipped for convention play) on Monday, June
15, 1925.

Keeper’s Information

The true danger at the Campbell House is not one
of the founders of the Campbell line, but someone
who bought the house years later.

In 1826, Martin Smith purchased the Camp-
bell House from the estate of Matthew Wagner.
Smith soon learned of the strange things that had
happened in the house, including the unnatural
death of Wagner, who was found frozen to death on
the roof in the dead of winter.

Smith began to explore the house in ear-
nest, soon discovering the secret laboratory and
the books there, including a journal kept by Sean
Campbell and a book written by Matthew Wager.
He found that Wagner had actually discovered the
secrets of the house some five years before. Wagner
had studied the books as well, and made use of the
gates in the cellar and the attic, but had been un-

nerved upon his first meeting ghouls in late 1922.
He wrote that he soon realized the “foul creatures”
were able to come and go with the gates as readily
as he was.

When the things actually entered the house
one night, he fled to the roof, where he was found
some days later, dead.

Fascinated, Smith made use of the books
and learned several potent spells. Over the next 13
years, he became famil-
iar with the gates and
magic, made a pact with
the ghouls, and even, be-

fore he died, covered one ¥ "\_«' o
gate with another one 'y, @
that would activate if .
his name was not mut- o B
tered, trapping anyone i )
who went through it in | | Nl
his own grave. ¥ AR
Smith had been ex- -
perimenting with cer- - ;
tain spells and potions  Martin Smith, Undead
that would give him, in Wizard

essence, eternal life and

possibly great power.

He instructed his servants on how to dispose of his
body once he died, and prepared his casket him-
self. When he died he did not stay dead but rose as
something else. Something horrible.

Smith returned as something that resembled
the creature from the old British story “The Vam-
pire of Croglin Grange.” He looked dead with with-
ered and wrinkled brown skin, and his eyes burned
like coals, giving off a reddish hue. Though Smith
isn’t a real vampire, he does like the taste of blood
and has found that if he is injured, fresh blood helps
him heal or regenerate at an increased rate. He also
found that he could leap at least twice as far as a

5



R0

normal man and could easily climb almost any sur-
face.

Though he is not a vampire, per se, he is very
dangerous and doesn’t like anyone in the house
when he is around. He only visited the house in-
frequently until the last year or so. He wants peace
and quiet and no meddlers while he works in Sean
Campbell’s lab. He’s willing to do anything he has to
in order to get it.

Nine years ago, he used his magic to make the
flooding in the Wilson Gorge much worse than it
would have been in the hopes of washing Mortimer
and Hut Burrow away. He succeeded with Hut Bur-
row and only a few people still live there. He was less
successful with Mortimer but damaged the town to
the point where it is dying. It was good enough for
him at the time.

Meeting with the lawyer

Richard Arthur Atkinson works out of the office of
Atkinson, Birch, and Fisher at 210 Main St. NW in
Lenoir, and the investigators can meet with him if
they wish. Atkinson is a slim young man of about 33
with dark hair and round glasses. He is very polite
with the investigators and apologizes for the length
of time between Randolph Walker’s death and his
locating Abington. He points out that Walker had
listed no living relatives and it was quite a feat to
locate a relative as far away as Massachusetts.

He tells the investigators that the inheritance
consists of a house near Mortimer, N.C., some 22
miles from Lenoir. The house is old but in good
shape and he mentions that the law firm has been
renting out the house since Walker left it abruptly
in 1915, soon after committing himself to the State
Hospital at Morganton.

After filling out some paperwork to transfer
the deed and giving keys to the house to the investi-
gators (something Atkinson in insists upon), he ad-
vises them that they may wish to actually look at the
house before deciding what to do with it.

“It’s about a mile and a half from the town of
Mortimer,” he tells them. “You can take the train
from Lenoir right up to the town. That’s what I'd
advise. The roads take much longer and none of
them are paved except for Number 18 that goes up
to Blowing Rock. The roads up there are hard on
automobiles.”

If any investigator makes a psychology roll, he
realizes that there is something Atkinson isn’t tell-
ing them. If pressed, Atkinson eventually relates
that Walker had apparently wanted no one in the
house after he left but, in order to pay the taxes, the

Keys to the Mortimer House

law firm had rented it out to tourists. It was a very
popular place “no matter what’s been printed in the
newspapers” Atkinson says. He won’t go into any
more detail, realizing he’s already said too much.

The Train to Mortimer

Due to the recent fire in the mountains around
Mortimer, the train only sporadically runs, usually
no more than twice a week. Investigators learn that
it should be repaired in the next month or so.

The tracks follows paved road for only a few
miles before passing into the deeper woods. Then, only
a dirt road is visible aside from occasional houses and
small towns that the railroad passes through. The
train stops in Collettsville and passes through Adako
before it reaches an area of devastation.

Fire has ravaged this part of the state. The
tracks follow what the conductor tells you it is Wilson
Creek through an area that has been destroyed by fire,
though it looks like it had been logged almost com-
pletely before the fire swept through. At one point the
locomotive slows to move through an area where men
are working on the tracks, hastily repairing a bridge
over a small stream.

You ride through the destruction for several
miles before you spot another dirt road, houses scat-
tered along it, some intact and some destroyed by fire.
Soon after, the train passes into an area where the few
trees left by the loggers still stand and evidence of the
fire is gone. You spot a couple of small buildings across
the creek and then the remains of a toppled wooden
church. You soon spot a large mill just before the train
stops in a tiny, little village.

“Mortimer,” the conductor calls. “Mortimer.”

Mortimer isn’t much of a town. A small depot
stands not far from a company store and a few hous-
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es are scattered around on this side of the river. You
can make out the train trestle and what appears to be
the stone supports of another bridge that is long since
washed away. A dirt road runs through the town

Driving to Mortimer

If the investigators decide to drive to Mortimer, they
are in for quite a trip. It takes a successful Fast Talk
or Persuade roll to get the local Ford dealership in
Lenoir to rent a 1925 Ford Model T to the investiga-
tors.

Directions to Mortimer are fairly easy to get
though it is a 28 mile drive going through Colletts-
ville and then towards Globe before driving down
the rough Staircase Mountain to Edgemont and fi-
nally Mortimer. All of this is over rough dirt and
gravel roads. An old logging road also leads from
Collettsville to Mortimer but the route near Globe,
though longer, is safer, especially since the recent
fire.

Anytime the investigators drive more than 10
miles over these backwoods roads, the driver must
make a Drive Auto check. Failure indicates some
minor malfunction: a blown tire, getting stuck in
the mud, riding off the road into a ditch, or the like.
This adds an additional 1d4-1 hours (minimum of
one) to any trip. On a roll above 95%, the damage
is more severe: broken axle, cracked engine mount
or engine block, or minor crash that does enough
damage to cost $100 to $400 in repairs in addition
to losing them 1d8 hours (if they can get the car to
run at all after that).

The Road proves narrow and hazardous with a
sheer, wooded drop on one side and high rocky walls
leaning towards the road and thick trees on the oth-
er. Tiny bridges over deep, narrow ravines filled with
water splashing beneath are almost as intimidating
as areas of the road washed out by the rain. Fallen
trees, stones, and rocks are just part of the debris on
the road that has to be passed around. Sometimes the
road enters a place where the dark, overhanging trees
are close, almost crowding in on either side. Occasion-
ally, the road offers spectacular views of mountains,
sometimes shrouded in dark clouds and mist.

Houses are few and far between and some of
them dilapidated and long-abandoned. A single elec-
tric line follows the road, going from one leaning pole
to the next, the only sign of civilization you sometimes
see.

Constant turns and curves follow the edge of the
mountainside and switchbacks often make it impos-
sible to gauge which direction you are traveling. The

automobile rattles down the road, shaking you until
you are almost sick.

The automobile passes by Edgemont though
the investigators will not realize that as the commu-
nity is further up the road from Mortimer than the
connecting road leads them. They soon spot rail-
road tracks again, however, and find the town.

After passing a sawmill on the river and a
small, one-room, whitewashed school, you come
into a cleared area on Wilson Creek where the tracks
run through the town itself, little more than a de-
pot and a company store with a scattering of hous-
es around them. On a hill overlooking the town is a
larger structure that appears to be a hotel.

Mortimer

Though a shadow of what it once was, Mortimer
is still a town that lives (for the moment). Though
the investigators don’t know it yet, it is the closest
thing to civilization this part of the North Carolina
Mountains has to offer.

Mortimer is detailed above.

Investigators asking around about the Camp-
bell House can learn from almost anyone that the
old place lies about a mile south of town on Yellow
Buck Mountain. A lane near the old broken-down
Presbyterian Church leads up to the house, which is
on a ridge that overlooks the valley.

Investigators can either walk to the house (if
they didn’t rent an automobile), or they can ask
around about a ride. They have to take some time
to find one of the owners of the only two automo-
biles in town (both work at the Mill) and it is after
dinnertime before either of them is willing to give
the investigator’s a ride. However, there are people
who own horses and buggies or even wagons and
after only a short time, they are referred to Wilson
Hardy’s farm if they want a wagon ride to the place.

Wilson Hardy is

friendly enough but takes Wy
his time h1tch}ng up h%s J:_-“:.-,_;’_m;ﬁ- .
small team. If incentive is 1175 x
added (a $5 bill or more), ;‘*@:‘gs &
he hurries to get the in- 0 |
vestigators on their way
down the road, making A r
small talk as they go. W
After a half hour or | *
so, they spot a wrecked -
church on the west side R
of the road in a cleared Wilson Hardy,
Farmer

area by the mountainside.
The old, wooden church
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leans towards the road and seems to look mourn-
fully at the investigators with empty windows. All
of the stained glass is gone and the small tower in
the front is leaning crazily. There are no intact doors
or windows on the church and if examined closely,
watermarks show that the building was flooded al-
most up to its rafters at one time. A short wall be-
hind the church is intact though a few stones are
missing here and there. It surrounds a cemetery.

Behind the church is a steep lane that goes into
the thick woods. Wilson Hardy either turns his team
up the lane or stops (depending on how late in the
day it is and whether investigators have paid him)
and lets the investigators off.

The Campbell House

Information on the Campbell House and its
surrounding are in the Campbell House section.

Things that Go Bump in the Night

Martin Smith learns of the investigators at
his house almost as soon as they arrive. He spends
much time these days in the laboratory, studious-
ly experimenting (especially brewing terrible things
during the night) and trying his best to learn new
horrors.

There are numerous strange things that can
happen in the house. As Martin Smith can come
and go through all three gates as he pleases, as well
as enter the house through more mundane means
(he has keys to all of the doors, including the locked
dining room door, can climb the trellises and walls
of the house and enter through any window, and is
even willing to break glass to enter), he has almost
full access to the house.

The investigators might hear or see some
strange things that make them nervous.

+  Strange noises in the cellar or the sound of
someone moving around down there. No one
is there when anyone investigates. If someone
goes alone, Martin Smith might take the op-
portunity to remove or kill him.

+  The sound of someone moving around in
the attic. When investigated, nothing is there.
Again, lone investigators might be snatched or
killed by Martin Smith.

+  Spotting a dark figure (at night) in the tree line
looking out with eyes as red as coals. Sanity
1/1d2. The figure flees if anyone approaches.

+  Items being moved as if someone had been in
the house. Usually, nothing is missing but if in-
vestigators leave weapons, they might be emp-
tied of bullets or damaged in some way.

+  Bare footprints in the dust or handprints on a
dusty window.

+  Spotting a figure moving downstairs through
the vent on the upstairs landing. He is gone by
the time investigators arrive. Sanity loss 1/1d4.

+  Seeing what can only be described as red eyes
staring through one of the vents at night if any-
one is on the landing or in the living room. In
either case, the eyes seem to stare at the inves-
tigator before apparently blinking out and van-
ishing. If investigators try to get to the other
room, whatever caused the disturbance is gone.
Sanity loss 0/1d3.

+ Investigators in the basement might hear the
sound of moving furniture in the room above
and, when they rush to investigate, find that
several pieces of furniture in the living room
have been moved in front of the door in an at-
tempt to block it.

+  The well cover being moved or removed.

He is also willing to attack investigators directly but
prefers to ambush them one at a time. Using his
sense life spell, he can pinpoint where investigators
are and choose to attack one who is alone, domi-
nating them so they cannot move and then either
physically attacking them or trying to suck their
blood depending on his mood.

In any case, he always has a means of escape
ready, using the secret passages, gates, or even win-
dows to flee if threatened.

With the remortification spell, Smith can also
make ghosts of those he has personally killed ap-
pear in the house. These spirits reenact the scenes of
their death and he uses this to try to either distract
or frighten away the investigators. These ghosts
make not sound whatsoever.

Some of the immaterial ghosts that appear in-
clude:

* A young girl who can be no older than about
eight. She has short brown hair and wears a
nightdress from the century before. As she
lies on the bed, struggling as if having trouble
breathing, she suddenly seems to age horribly
wither and die before disappearing. [LARGE
BEDROOM 9 — Martin Smith originally cast
steal life upon her.]

*  Alone man wearing the uniform of the Union
Army sits in a chair and suddenly turns. His
eyes are filled with fright and his mouth gapes
open. He is jerked to one side, his neck bending
too far, and he falls to the ground and lies still
before disappearing. [ATTIC — the Union sol-
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dier Smith surprised and killed — his body is in
the church basement.]

+ A Union soldier is sleeping in the bed when
he suddenly jerks awake, staring at something
nearby. The man rocks violently from side to
side and then his head jerks back to expose his
throat. A cut appears on the side and he jerks
spasmodically as if struggling against someone
holding him down. He grows pale before fad-
ing from sight. [MASTER BEDROOM - This
is Frederick Mills, the Union soldier drained of
blood. He is buried in the Wilson Creek Cem-
etery.]

A Union Soldier running when he suddenly
stumbles and falls as if something had struck
him from behind. He appears to be screaming
in terror, though he makes no sound. Bruises
appear on his face and he holds his arms up as
if defending himself against a beating. It is in
vain, however, as he head jerks from numer-
ous blows before he falls back and fades away.
[OUTSIDE - this is another of the Union sol-
diers]

*  Another man lying in a bed, this one older and
with a full beard and mustache. He suddenly
sits up and silently screams before gripping at
a large wooden cross hanging from his neck by
a leather thong and brandishing it. Something
unseen jerks the cross out of the man’s hand
and the thong tightens around his neck. He
struggles against it but his face turns purple as
his tongue swells out of his mouth and he dies
and vanishes. [MASTER BEDROOM - This is
Reverend Wilber Thompson’s death]

A woman is walking forward when she is ap-
parently grasped by several hands and screams
silently. She is torn apart by what appear to be
numerous people before she fades away. [WAR-
REN — Sharon Hutchinson, the guest who dis-
appeared in 1919 stumbled across the labora-
tory and found her way into the gho